
 United Nations  A/C.3/63/SR.36

  
 

General Assembly 
Sixty-third session 
 
Official Records 

 
Distr.: General 
4 February 2009 
English 
Original: French 

 

 

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member 
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the 
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a 
copy of the record. 

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each 
Committee. 

08-58894 (E) 
*0858894* 

Third Committee 
 

Summary record of the 36th meeting 
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Tuesday, 4 November 2008, at 3 p.m. 
 

Chairman: Mr. Majoor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Netherlands) 
 later: Ms. Seanedzu (Vice-Chairman) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (Ghana) 
 later: Mr. Majoor. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (Netherlands) 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

Agenda item 39: Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 
questions relating to refugees, returnees and displaced persons and humanitarian 
questions 



A/C.3/63/SR.36  
 

08-58894 2 
 

The meeting was called to order at 3.15 p.m. 
 
 

Agenda item 39: Report of the United Nations High 
Commissioner for Refugees, questions relating to 
refugees, returnees and displaced persons and 
humanitarian questions (A/63/12, A/63/12/Add.1  
and A/63/321) 
 

1. Mr. Guterres (United Nations High 
Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR)), introducing 
his report (A/63/12), gave a brief overview of the main 
developments in protection, assistance and the search 
for lasting solutions for refugees, displaced and 
stateless persons and other UNHCR beneficiaries, 
whose number had significantly increased over the 
18-month reporting period. In light of those 
developments, the High Commissioner had been 
committed to pursuing the UNHCR management 
reform process initiated in 2006, which was aimed at 
enabling the Agency to better meet beneficiaries’ needs 
by releasing additional resources for operational 
activities and reducing administrative costs. In that 
regard, he had decided that the work of UNCHR would 
focus on four key actions: redirecting resources and 
energy to the field, decentralization and 
regionalization, achieving and demonstrating results 
and, lastly, undertaking human resources reforms. In 
that regard, a learning centre had recently been 
established in Budapest. Referring to the “Delivering 
as One” initiative, he noted that UNHCR and the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations had recently 
decided to strengthen their cooperation. 

2. He expressed the hope that the global financial 
crisis would not place a burden on the Agency’s 
budget, which was already insufficient to meet the 
basic needs of its beneficiaries. He stressed the need to 
find new solutions for managing environmental and 
humanitarian crises, raise the standards and delivery of 
protection for displaced people and reconsider the 
traditional principles and architecture of humanitarian 
action, in light of newer concepts such as human 
security and the responsibility to protect. 

3. Lastly, the noted that if the international 
community failed to meet the needs of the world’s 
poor, it could only expect more social and political 
turmoil in the years to come. He hoped that he could 
count on the wisdom of Member States and trusted that 
they would choose to invest in protection for the most 
vulnerable, as a matter of self-interest. 

4. Mr. Shingiro (Burundi), referring to 
paragraph 49 of the High Commissioner’s report, asked 
for information about the countries that had announced 
that they would undertake resettlement and wondered 
why European Union member States were only 
offering 6 per cent of all resettlement places available 
worldwide. Turning to paragraph 53, he sought more 
information about the causes of the long resettlement 
request processing time, the problems encountered in 
that regard and the strategies adopted to address the 
situation. 

5. Mr. Khoshnaw (Iraq) noted that many Iraqis who 
had sought asylum abroad were beginning to return 
home, indicating that his Government’s efforts to 
achieve stability, in cooperation with the international 
community, were paying off. His Government would 
continue to cooperate with UNHCR. 

6. Mr. Al-Shami (Yemen), noting that his 
Government was committed to cooperating with 
UNHCR, sought the High Commissioner’s views on 
the impact of the growing number of pirate attacks in 
the Red Sea region on the refugee situation. 

7. Mr. Saeed (Sudan) commended the High 
Commissioner for his efforts, to secure resources and 
reduce administrative costs in the context of reforms 
undertaken by UNHCR in 2006, and wanted to know 
the results of those efforts. Referring to the figures 
cited in the High Commissioner’s report, he wondered 
how they had been calculated and whether the States 
concerned had been involved in the process, noting that 
the figures, particularly those relating to the 
repatriation of refugees in Africa, appeared to be 
exaggerated. 

8. Ms. Bhoroma (Zimbabwe), commenting on 
paragraphs 31 to 33 of the chapter on Southern Africa 
of the report of the Secretary-General on assistance to 
refugees, returnees and displaced persons in Africa 
(A/63/321), said that the emigration of Zimbabweans 
to South Africa had begun well over a century earlier, 
following the discovery of gold in that country. Several 
regional legal instruments provided for human 
migration, including the treaty establishing the South 
African Development Community, one of the 
objectives of which was sustainable economic 
development based on the collective autonomy and the 
interdependence of its members, as well as the 
maximization of productive employment and the use of 
the region’s human and material resources. The 



 A/C.3/63/SR.36
 

3 08-58894 
 

Community had also adopted a free trade agreement in 
1996 providing for the free movement of goods and 
services and, in 2005, a protocol to facilitate the 
movement of persons. Since South Africa had a 
flourishing economy, it naturally attracted labour from 
other countries; that was not a merely African 
phenomenon, but a global one, already observed in 
Europe and the Americas. 

9. While she did not deny the economic difficulties 
that Zimbabwe was experiencing as a result of the 
unilateral economic sanctions, nor the country’s current 
political problems, of which most members of the 
Third Committee were aware, she strongly objected to 
the half-truths and biased information that the 
Secretariat had presented in its report (A/63/321) for 
political purposes. Insinuating that the migration of 
Zimbabweans to South Africa had sparked the 
xenophobic violence in that country was a political 
conclusion that did not help to resolve that particular 
problem. It was regrettable that, of all the African 
countries whose nationals had been victims of the 
xenophobic attacks, the report had only singled out 
Zimbabwe. Politicizing xenophobic attacks was a 
violation of the International Convention on the 
Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. The 
Secretariat should abstain from drawing its own 
conclusions and presenting them as facts in reports of 
the United Nations without consulting the Member 
States concerned. She thanked the South African 
Government for its assistance to all the victims of 
those sad events. 

10. Mr. Attiya (Egypt) said that, according to the 
report (A/63/12), there were 11.4 million refugees 
worldwide and 52 million displaced persons, of whom 
26 million had been displaced for conflict-related 
reasons and the other 26 million by natural disasters; 
however, the report only referred to the work of 
UNHCR in response to the needs of 31.7 million 
people. The figures presented in the report did not tally 
with the information in the tables. 

11. He wondered why the number of refugees of 
concern to UNHCR was not clearly indicated. In 
addition, the report made no distinction between the 
approximately 730,000 returned refugees, shown in 
table 1, and the total of 2.8 million refugees, displaced 
persons and people in refugee-like situations, who had 
returned home. Furthermore, the report did not indicate 
how many of the approximately 730,000 returned 
refugees had received assistance from UNHCR 

pursuant to its mandate. UNHCR should explain the 
meaning of the terms “refugees” and “people in 
refugee-like situations” and explain why the report 
referred to 11.4 million refugees in the world, while, 
according to the figures in the table, there were only 
9.5 million. 

12. Ms. Mballa Eyenga (Cameroon) noted the 
pressure that the refugee situation placed on the United 
Nations system and host countries. Cameroon was 
proud to be a host country and country of asylum, but 
had been obliged to overcome the pressures on its 
capacity to respond to the needs of the refugees on its 
territory. The presence of refugees within its borders 
also caused security problems, including the circulation 
of weapons controlled by members of armed groups 
that had infiltrated into its territory. Since the issue of 
refugees was a collective challenge, the international 
community should acknowledge the need to share 
responsibilities. 

13. Mr. Guterres (United Nations High 
Commissioner for Refugees) said that Burundi was to 
be commended on the significant numbers of 
Burundian refugees who had returned home in 2007 
and 2008. The Burundian Government and people, 
UNHCR and international organizations had made an 
enormous effort to guarantee a harmonious process in 
that country, which was under tremendous population 
pressure.  

14. Regarding resettlement in a third country, the 
United States of America, Australia and Canada had a 
long tradition in that regard. Refugees were usually 
resettled in developed countries, as a way of sharing 
responsibilities with first-asylum countries. In the case 
of Europe, rather than resettlement, hundreds of 
thousands of asylum-seekers arrived directly at the 
borders of some European countries. However, Europe 
had recently adopted a resettlement quota system, 
which UNHCR strongly encouraged, because 
resettlement was very important in situations of 
vulnerability and when refugees were used as a 
strategic weapon. Norway, Sweden, Denmark, the 
United Kingdom, the Netherlands and Portugal had 
established standing quotas and other countries, such 
as France and Spain, were considering following their 
example. 

15. The significant slowdown in resettlement 
procedures had been caused by security-related 
problems. The quality of the applications submitted by 



A/C.3/63/SR.36  
 

08-58894 4 
 

UNHCR was a factor that would speed up procedures. 
He welcomed the tremendous generosity of some 
countries, which had agreed to establish emergency 
resettlement programmes for refugees in a particularly 
vulnerable situation, and thanked Romania, which had 
agreed to establish a transit centre for cases where the 
processing time was incompatible with the 
requirements of the first-asylum country. He also 
commended the efforts made by Brazil, which accepted 
emergency resettlements within 72 hours and hoped 
that such procedures could be applied in other cases. 

16. Responding to the representative of Iraq, he said 
that, the previous summer, 10,000 displaced persons 
had returned home, and that had raised the crucial issue 
of the return of property and the payment of 
compensation in the many cases where it was not 
possible to return such property. Nevertheless, the 
return of Iraqis from abroad was still proceeding very 
slowly. 

17. The security situation in Iraq had improved, but 
continued intensive cooperation was needed to ensure 
that returns were successful and sustainable. It was 
extremely important for States not to return refugees to 
Iraq against their will; rather they should prepare their 
return in an orderly manner when the security situation 
improved. 

18. He welcomed the fact that Yemen had agreed to 
grant prima facie refugee status to all Somalis who 
landed on the Yemeni coast. Piracy endangered the 
lives of refugees who tried to cross the Gulf of Aden; 
the activities of smugglers and traffickers also had an 
enormous impact. For example, during a recent visit to 
Yemen, he had observed that, in 2008, three times more 
people had tried to cross the Gulf of Aden than in 
2007, and, 400 people had drowned during the crossing 
in tragic circumstances. The international community 
must take tougher action against traffickers and 
smugglers at sea. Aware that the programme for Yemen 
received very little support compared with the needs, 
UNCHR was trying to divert as much resources as 
possible from internal savings and had considerably 
upgraded that programme. 

19. Responding to the comment made by the 
representative of the Sudan, he said that the savings 
made through the internal reform of the Office had had 
two significant effects on the implementation of its 
programme in the Sudan. The Office had upgraded its 
presence in Eastern Sudan, which had been hosting a 

large number of Eritreans for decades. The programme 
in Eastern Sudan would be one of the five cases of 
refugees in protracted situations, to which UNHCR 
would call the international community’s attention in 
December 2008 during the next dialogue on the 
challenges of protection. In 2007 and 2008, UNHCR 
had also been able to enhance its programme of 
assistance for the return of refugees to Southern Sudan, 
which had been seriously affected by a shortage of 
resources in 2005 and 2006. Even though the 
conditions of reintegration would be very complicated, 
refugees would soon be able to return to Southern 
Sudan. 

20. The bulk of the figures provided by UNHCR 
were drawn from national statistics; the figures for 
resettlement were accurate because they were based on 
the individual submissions presented by UNHCR; the 
figures for departures were also accurate because they 
had been checked by the countries of first asylum; and 
the figures for refugees in general were for the most 
part based on statistics provided by the host country. 

21. Responding to the comments of the representative 
of Zimbabwe on the report of the Secretary-General 
(A/63/321), he said that although he could not speak 
for the Secretary-General, his Office had observed a 
sustained and massive migration of Zimbabweans, 
about three million of whom were said to have left 
their country. The majority of the Zimbabweans who 
had crossed the border into South Africa were not 
refugees in the sense of the Convention but were 
fleeing their country, where the economic situation was 
desperate. There were also tens of thousands of 
Zimbabweans in South Africa who had requested 
asylum under the Convention, invoking violations of 
their fundamental rights. South Africa and other 
neighbouring countries had granted asylum to a great 
many of those seeking it. In South Africa, a State party 
to the 1951 Convention, it was not UNHCR but the 
national authorities who determined refugee status. 

22. The report established no linkage between the 
xenophobic attacks in South Africa and the migration 
of Zimbabweans. It was nevertheless true that most of 
the victims — who had come from a number of 
countries — had been Zimbabweans, which could be 
explained by the fact that so many lived in South 
Africa. 

23. The representative of Egypt should contact the 
New York office of UNHCR for detailed information 



 A/C.3/63/SR.36
 

5 08-58894 
 

on the figures and the terminology used by UNHCR. 
The term “persons of concern to the High 
Commissioner” encompassed all refugees and asylum-
seekers but only a part of displaced persons, namely, 
all those displaced as a result of conflicts and only 
those displaced by natural disasters occurring in 
countries where UNHCR already had sizeable 
programmes. Stateless persons were also persons of 
concern to the High Commissioner, and the Office in 
addition provided assistance to some repatriated 
persons immediately after their return. The term 
“persons in a refugee-like situation” referred to a 
limited number whom the host country did not 
recognize as refugees but who UNHCR believed did fit 
the definition of a refugee. 

24. UNHCR did not assist all refugees and did not 
systematically provide direct assistance to the countries 
concerned. A large part of its activities aimed at raising 
awareness among industrialized countries of the need 
to protect the rights of asylum-seekers. He was aware 
that the support given to Egypt, among other countries, 
was insufficient. It was therefore incumbent on him to 
reduce the UNHCR headquarters expenditure as far as 
possible, including through outposting and staff 
reductions, so as to give more assistance to refugees. 

25. Responding to the delegation of Cameroon, he 
said that he was aware that the impact of the presence 
of refugees had on Cameroonian society, but that one 
must distinguish between refugees, who had to receive 
assistance because they were victims, and armed 
bands, who were largely responsible for victimizing the 
refugees and who were not entitled to receive aid either 
from UNHCR or the host country. The international 
community must, indeed, share the responsibility for 
refugees, by using UNHCR and providing economic 
cooperation but also by resettling refugees in order to 
lighten the burden currently being borne by the 
countries of first asylum of the South.  

26. Ms. Tadesse (Ethiopia) noted that, according to 
paragraph 11 of the report of the Secretary-General 
(A/63/321), international organizations estimated there 
were currently some 20,000 conflict-induced internally 
displaced persons, living mainly in Somali, Oromiya, 
Gambella and Tigray regional States. The High 
Commissioner should identify those international 
organizations. The report indicated that the persons in 
question had been displaced as a result of conflict, but 
it seemed to her delegation that in some cases the 
population displacements were due to other reasons.  

27. Ms. Bhoroma (Zimbabwe), assuring the High 
Commissioner that she had not mistaken him for the 
Secretary-General, reiterated that it was unfortunate 
that paragraph 32 of the report of the Secretary-
General dealt solely with Zimbabweans, when it was 
an established fact that there were no Zimbabweans 
emigrating to South Africa. She believed that the 
incidents in question had been politicized, and again 
took issue with paragraph 33 of the same report, stating 
that South Africa had been hit by a wave of 
unprecedented xenophobic violence targeting 
Zimbabweans and other foreign nationals. The other 
countries whose nationals were referred to should have 
been cited. 

28. Mr. Saeed (Sudan) asked the Secretariat who was 
going to introduce the report of the Secretary-General 
on assistance to refugees, returnees and displaced 
persons in Africa (A/63/321) and who would answer 
Sudan’s questions concerning the report, which had 
been submitted by the Secretary-General and was not 
the responsibility of the High Commissioner.  

29. Mr. Guterres (United Nations High Commissioner 
for Refugees) said that the report on refugees submitted 
by the Secretary-General presented information furnished 
by UNHCR, the body responsible for refugees. No 
international organization had a mandate in respect of 
displaced persons, who were, to begin with, the 
responsibility of States and were receiving aid, in 
application of the cluster approach, from different 
international agencies. 

30. Replying to the Ethiopian delegation, he said that 
he was not in a position to identify international 
organizations referred to in paragraph 11 of the 
Secretary-General’s report. Since his Office had not 
been authorized by the Ethiopian Government to carry 
out activities in Ogaden, his information on that region 
was sketchy. 

31. Turning to the question of Zimbabwe and again 
recalling that document A/63/321 had not been 
submitted by UNHCR, he said that if acts of 
xenophobic violence in South Africa had caused many 
victims among Zimbabweans, it was probably because 
there was a large Zimbabwean community in that 
country. There was absolutely no link between the 
events that had occurred in South Africa and the 
situation in Zimbabwe. 

32. Mr. Alemu (Ethiopia) sought further clarification 
concerning the “other organizations” referred to by the 



A/C.3/63/SR.36  
 

08-58894 6 
 

High Commissioner, noting that his Government had 
worked in close collaboration with the United Nations, 
especially in the Somali area of the Ogaden region and, 
contrary to what the High Commissioner had said, had 
allowed United Nations agencies to work in all parts of 
the Somali regional state. 

33. Mr. Saadi (Algeria), referring to the restructuring 
of the Office, in particular the regional offices referred 
to by the High Commissioner, asked what the Office’s 
plans were for North Africa. Unfortunately, the High 
Commissioner had not mentioned the close cooperation 
between UNHCR and Algeria in providing protection 
and humanitarian assistance to refugees. 

34. The Chairman advised the representative of the 
Sudan that the report of the Secretary-General on 
assistance to refugees, returnees and displaced persons 
in Africa (A/63/321) would not be introduced 
separately. 

35. Mr. Saeed (Sudan) said that the High 
Commissioner did not seem to want to take any 
responsibility for the Secretary-General’s report. He 
reiterated that the figures concerning his country were 
exaggerated and repeated his request to know the 
sources of those figures and whether, in general, the 
countries concerned had been consulted. 

36. Mr. Guterres (United Nations High 
Commissioner for Refugees) said that the report had 
indeed been prepared by the Secretary-General and not 
by his Office, but that he took responsibility for it. He 
again noted that the figures on refugees had been taken 
from UNHCR statistics and that those concerning 
internally displaced persons had been provided by 
various international organizations, including not only 
all the United Nations agencies involved in the cluster 
approach but also other organizations that had 
considerable experience in dealing with displaced 
persons. He was not in a position, however, to specify 
the names of those organizations. 

37. With regard to the Ogaden, he explained that he 
had referred in particular to UNHCR, which had been 
refused permission to open a field office in an area 
close to the Somali border. UNHCR was still very 
interested in opening an office there, in order to 
monitor the protection of Somali refugees in Ethiopia 
in pursuance of its mandate. 

38. Algeria and UNHCR had worked together for a 
very long time, and the Office cherished that 

collaboration. Moreover, in the context of 
decentralization, his Office was currently negotiating 
with the Tunisian Government to establish a “platform 
of support” in Tunis for its activities in the Maghreb, 
which would complement the structures already in 
place in Dakar and Pretoria. The situation in East 
Africa, where most of the Office’s main operations 
were being conducted, was more complex, and it would 
therefore be difficult to focus all coordination efforts 
on a single regional office. 

39. Mr. Saeed (Sudan) said that it was very 
important for statistics concerning refugees to be as 
accurate as possible. Since the countries themselves 
bore the primary responsibility for returnees and 
displaced persons, figures relating to them should be 
obtained directly from the countries and not from other 
sources. 

40. Mr. Guterres (United Nations High 
Commissioner for Refugees) said that returnees were 
the responsibility of UNHCR; statistics concerning 
them were generally gathered in cooperation with the 
Governments concerned, and if there had been an error, 
he would take full responsibility for it and would be 
quite prepared to correct it. On the question of sources, 
he cited the summary of the Secretary-General’s report, 
which stated that the report “draws on information 
received from a number of United Nations 
organizations”, including UNHCR and probably a 
number of other organizations involved in the cluster 
approach; the list of those organizations was well-
known and widely available. 

41. Mr. Alemu (Ethiopia) said that, in future, the 
sources of information used should be clearly 
specified, so as to ensure their reliability. He 
reaffirmed his Government’s continued willingness to 
cooperate closely with the United Nations system. 

42. Ms. Blic (France), speaking on behalf of the 
European Union; the candidate countries Croatia, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia1 and Turkey; 
the stabilization and association process countries 
Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and 
Serbia; and, in addition, Iceland, Ukraine and 
Moldova, said that the European Union was deeply 
concerned at the steady increase in the number of 
refugees and displaced persons, the mounting 
__________________ 

 1  Croatia and the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia 
continue to be part of the stabilization and association 
process. 



 A/C.3/63/SR.36
 

7 08-58894 
 

insecurity they faced and the threats to humanitarian 
staff, which made the situation worse. In future, as a 
result of climate change, the increase in the number of 
conflicts over natural resources and the increasing 
incidence of emergency situations, there would be 
further displacement. Given the steady increase in the 
number of migrants, States must find a way to 
safeguard the rights of refugees and asylum-seekers 
and protect them while also taking the necessary 
measures to control migration. In that regard, the 
European Union agreed with the Office that measures 
must be taken to address protection needs of refugees. 
The European Union also agreed with UNHCR that 
lasting solutions must be found to the plight of 
internally displaced persons, and that greater 
international coordination of humanitarian and 
development-related measures to assist displaced 
persons would help to improve the multifaceted 
response to their needs. Expressing concern at the de 
facto restriction of humanitarian access to populations 
in need of assistance, the European Union called on 
States that were parties to a conflict to abide by 
international humanitarian law and thanked the High 
Commissioner for his efforts to create humanitarian 
space in Georgia. 

43. The European Union welcomed the progress 
made towards finding lasting solutions to the refugee 
situation, including through voluntary return or local 
integration. It welcomed the upcoming international 
conference on Afghan refugees, which UNHCR would 
be involved in organizing, and called for their 
voluntary return, when the security situation improved. 
The European Union hoped that global strategies 
conducive to sustainable return would be put in place. 

44. With regard to protracted refugee situations, the 
European Union believed that the international 
community must take action to alleviate the burden on 
host countries, and it was aware that such action would 
include resettlement programmes on its own territory. 
Significant progress had been achieved in that regard: a 
European Refugee Fund had been established, 11 new 
European countries had signalled their willingness to 
establish a resettlement programme in cooperation with 
UNHCR and a common resettlement programme was 
being considered. 

45. As the continent that received the most asylum 
requests, Europe must develop an effective asylum 
system. That was one of the objectives of the European 
pact on immigration and asylum recently adopted by 

heads of State and Government; the pact would reduce 
existing disparities between Member States, enhance 
solidarity within the European Union and strengthen its 
cooperation with UNHCR. 

46. The European Union also welcomed the decline 
in the number of stateless persons and hailed the efforts 
of Nepal and Bangladesh to assist formerly stateless 
populations living on their territory. 

47. Lastly, the European Union reiterated its 
commitment to United Nations humanitarian reform 
and greater coordination between UNHCR, the Office 
for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs and other 
United Nations entities, and welcomed the effective 
cooperation in the field between UNHCR, the 
International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement 
and non-governmental organizations. 

48. Mr. Gaspar Martins (Angola), speaking on 
behalf of the Southern African Development Community 
(SADC), noted that the benefits of globalization were 
yet to reach the poorest and, in particular, refugees and 
displaced persons, and expressed concern at the steady 
rise in the number of refugees in recent years. SADC 
wished to highlight the crucial role that UNHCR was 
playing by providing assistance to 26 million internally 
displaced persons, especially in the current context, 
which was marked by soaring energy and food prices, 
the global financial crisis and adverse weather 
conditions that had resulted in an increase in the 
displacement of persons. In that connection, SADC 
welcomed the Executive Committee’s recent decisions, 
which would contribute to improving the assistance 
provided to those in need. 

49. Conflict-induced displacement and the challenge 
of international protection, especially after the 
emergence of several post-electoral crises, renewed 
conflicts and mixed migration flows to urban areas, 
which had been causing population displacement 
across the continent, were all matters of grave concern 
to SADC. 

50. Overall political stability in the region had led to 
some important humanitarian, social and political 
achievements, in particular, the completion of the 
repatriation process in Angola; the launching of 
repatriation operations for Congolese refugees in 
Zambia and other operations under way that had led to 
the return of up to 159,000 Congolese refugees; and 
the cessation of xenophobic violence in South Africa. 



A/C.3/63/SR.36  
 

08-58894 8 
 

51. Furthermore, the emerging challenges of human 
trafficking, economic migration and brain drain must 
be tackled at the multilateral level, with the 
cooperation of regional groups and civil society. 

52. SADC was also very concerned about sexual and 
gender-based violence against women and girls in the 
North Kivu province of the Democratic Republic of the 
Congo. It condemned those heinous acts and welcomed 
the UNHCR Handbook on the Protection of Women 
and Girls, which reinforced the need to give attention 
to their needs. 

53. SADC welcomed the preparations being made to 
draw up an African Union convention on internally 
displaced persons and firmly believed that that first 
legally binding instrument would contribute to the 
protection of refugees and internally displaced persons. 

54. SADC also applauded the High Commissioner’s 
commitment to efficiency savings at Headquarters and 
welcomed the release of 22 million dollars to address 
crucial gaps in the areas of malaria, malnutrition, 
sexual and gender-based violence, and reproductive 
health. 

55. SADC strongly believed that it was crucial to 
find sustainable solutions to the situation of refugees in 
order to end their dependence on international 
assistance and put an end to the need for international 
protection; in that regard, SADC encouraged African 
governments to engage in comprehensive negotiations 
in order to create more local integration opportunities 
for long-staying refugees. 

56. Finally, SADC wished to stress the importance of 
the Global Needs Assessment, which would provide a 
clear overview of the real needs, shortfalls and action 
required to improve the situation of refugees and 
internally displaced persons. 

57. Mr. Ashiki (Japan) said that, in light of climate 
change and the global food crisis, it was urgent to find 
a way to address the issues raised by complicated 
displacement situations. Clearly, efforts must be 
redoubled to find durable solutions to protracted 
refugee situations and address without delay any new 
challenges that might arise, such as the rapid growth in 
the number of refugees in urban areas. To that end, 
Japan would continue to support the activities of 
UNHCR. It believed that investment in human 
resources was required and, in particular, that the 
capability of aid workers responding to emergency 

humanitarian situations should be enhanced. He 
commended the Office for its efforts in that regard, 
including through the eCentre in Tokyo. 

58. The Government of Japan had set up in 2007 an 
inter-agency study group on resettlement that had 
undertaken an intensive study and engaged in 
discussions. 

59. On human security, Japan believed that return and 
reintegration assistance were of the utmost importance 
for achieving durable solutions to refugee issues. Other 
tools, such as vocational training and education for 
children, would also be useful to returnees as they 
resettled. To that end, Japan had provided assistance to 
the UNHCR programme for the construction of 
educational facilities in South Sudan for integrating 
returnees and empowering host communities. 

60. His delegation welcomed the efforts undertaken 
by the Office of the High Commissioner, in the area of 
structural reform, including the establishment of the 
Global Service Centre in Budapest, the ongoing review 
of the functions of headquarters, the global field 
review and decentralization and regionalization. It 
hoped that the ongoing Global Needs Assessment and 
the introduction of a new budgetary structure would 
lead to effective results-based management. The reform 
activities of the Office must be in line with the reform 
of the United Nations as a whole and aim to strengthen 
humanitarian responses. With regard to the cluster 
approach, his delegation agreed with UNHCR that 
there was room for improvement. 

61. Lastly, with regard to the security of 
humanitarian personnel, it was vital to implement the 
recommendations of the Independent Panel on Safety 
and Security of United Nations Personnel and 
Premises. Japan would like to consult with Member 
States and relevant organizations on ways of ensuring 
the safety and security of all those who worked to 
provide humanitarian aid. 

62. Mr. Saeed (Sudan) said that the Sudan was a 
country which, since achieving independence, had 
received a large number of refugees from neighbouring 
countries, despite the possible economic, social and 
cultural consequences. The signing and implementation 
of the Comprehensive Peace Agreement had created 
conditions that facilitated the voluntary return of 
Sudanese nationals from abroad. Greater efforts should 
be made to address their reintegration into society. He 
appealed to the international community to continue to 



 A/C.3/63/SR.36
 

9 08-58894 
 

support the voluntary return programme. His country 
was making every effort to move the peace process in 
Darfur forward under the leadership of the Head of 
State, who had enlisted the support of civil society for 
that cause. Under the Afro-Arab initiative proposed by 
Qatar, negotiations would be held with armed groups in 
order to resolve the conflict. His delegation wished to 
continue cooperating with the United Nations system 
and other agencies in order to share the burden and 
move on from the relief phase to the implementation of 
development projects in regions of the country affected 
by the conflict. The Sudan was committed to ensuring 
the safety of humanitarian workers and respected the 
agreements signed in that connection with the United 
Nations. The statement made by the representative of 
France on behalf of the European Union contained 
inaccurate information. The European Union, including 
France, would do well to contribute to the efforts to 
find solutions to the crisis in Darfur by putting pressure 
on the rebels to participate in the peace process. They 
should also refrain from spreading misleading 
information. 

63. Mr. McMahan (United States of America) said 
that the activities of UNHCR had never been more 
valuable than at the current time, as the numbers of 
displaced and stateless persons continued to rise. 
Refugee protection was an obligation and not a choice. 
The safety of refugees and humanitarian personnel was 
tenuous. In the last few years, the United States 
Government had worked with UNHCR to ensure that 
experienced officers were assigned to where they were 
most needed. As structural and management reforms 
were being considered and introduced, UNHCR should 
not sacrifice that fundamental obligation or the proper 
staffing of posts. The success of the reform efforts 
would be measured in terms of the protection provided 
to refugees and their impact on those who needed 
assistance. 

64. He commended UNHCR for increasing its 
protective efforts on behalf of stateless persons and 
urged it to strengthen its work on the right to 
nationality in collaboration with other agencies such as 
the United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF), on 
birth registration and education, and the United 
Nations Development Programme (UNDP) on voter 
registration. 

65. His delegation also welcomed the fact that, 
thanks to the Dialogue on Protection Challenges, 
UNHCR was pursuing durable solutions for refugees in 

protracted situations and had increased access to third-
country resettlement. His country strongly supported 
the motivation behind the critical reform work that 
should enable UNHCR to better serve the needs of 
refugees. While the United States supported the Global 
Needs Assessment initiative, it considered that there 
should be further discussion of priorities, given the 
funding implications of the widescale application of 
that initiative. UNHCR had embarked on far-reaching 
change that was unprecedented for a United Nations 
agency. It should continue its consultations with 
Member States in order to help them to explain the 
reasons for the reform efforts to their national decision 
makers. 

66. The United States Government was a steadfast 
partner of UNHCR and, as of 30 September, had 
contributed over $500 million to the agency’s 2008 
activities. It had also resettled over 60,000 refugees in 
the United States that year. 

67. Ms. Blum (Colombia) said that the issue of 
climate change and its impact should be studied further 
in the light of existing international legal instruments 
and the mandates of the humanitarian assistance 
agencies. With regard to UNHCR collaboration 
frameworks and partnerships, it was important to 
reiterate that the approach based on the “Delivering as 
One” model was not applicable to all countries. 

68. There were differences in the criteria used by 
UNHCR and by the Colombian Government to 
estimate the number of Colombians who were refugees 
or displaced in their own country. The estimates of 
displaced persons contained in document A/63/12 were 
cumulative data covering an 11-year period which did 
not take into account returnees or cases of successful 
social integration, or the significant reduction in new 
displacements since 2002 owing to the improvement in 
the country’s security situation. The evaluation criteria 
should be standardized. 

69. In order to comply with its obligations in that 
area, the Colombian Government had developed 
legislation and policies to ensure the protection of 
displaced persons and provide them with the necessary 
assistance, including food assistance, priority access to 
health services and education, subsidized housing and 
assistance in setting up income-generating projects. An 
annual budget of about $500 million was allocated to 
the programmes implemented by the 15 entities that 
made up the National System of Comprehensive Care 



A/C.3/63/SR.36  
 

08-58894 10 
 

for Displaced Persons. Currently, 260,000 displaced 
families were cared for under a national programme 
that provided them with a needs-based education and 
food subsidy. In 2008, 83,000 families had benefited 
from income-generating projects and 280,000 children 
had been enrolled in the state education system. During 
the 2006-2008 period, 557,000 displaced persons had 
joined the subsidized health system. The Presidential 
Agency for Social Action coordinated the programme 
to better address their needs, taking into account the 
guidelines and decisions of the Constitutional Court. 
Under the leadership of the Government, a national 
coordination mechanism for humanitarian assistance 
whose membership included stakeholders, such as local 
authorities, international agencies and civil society 
organizations had been established. The aim was to 
strengthen ties and coordination among the parties 
concerned so as to ensure the coherence of 
humanitarian activities and avoid duplication. 

70. She shared the view of UNHCR that measures 
should be taken to ensure the integration, return or 
resettlement of displaced persons. That was why it was 
important to strengthen cooperation between United 
Nations agencies and States in order to move from the 
relief phase to development activities. 

71. Ms. Seanadzu (Ghana), Vice-Chairman, took the 
Chair. 

72. Mr. Attiya (Egypt) said that his country was 
concerned about the adverse effects of rising food and 
energy prices, climate change and the international 
financial crisis could have on the resources available to 
UNHCR. He noted the Office’s efforts in the context of 
inter-agency coordination to provide protection and 
assistance for displaced persons. However, such 
activities should be undertaken within a framework of 
a completely transparent dialogue with Member States 
and should be consistent with relevant General 
Assembly resolutions.  

73. He called on Member States to coordinate their 
efforts to address the root causes of natural disasters, 
drought and conflicts that had caused the exponential 
increase in the number of internally displaced persons. 
It was a matter of concern that 52 million people 
around the world had been displaced within their own 
countries, with Africa accounting for more than a 
quarter of them, according to the report of the 
Secretary-General (A/63/321). Greater attention should 
be given to that issue to enable developing countries to 

pursue their legitimate aspirations and achieve the 
Millennium Development Goals. He noted the 
seriousness of the problem in a number of countries, 
but emphasized that any solution should take the 
original mandate of UNHCR into account. New 
mechanisms should be devised in order to diversify 
UNHCR financing, in view of the close links between 
the political, economic and humanitarian aspects of the 
refugee problem. 

74. In order to strengthen international action, a 
number of goals had to be achieved. To that end, the 
international community’s efforts geared towards 
eliminating the root causes of conflicts — the driving 
force behind such movements of persons worldwide — 
should be consolidated. The agencies of the United 
Nations system should also play their role, in 
accordance with the Charter, to help Member States to 
enhance their capacities to sustain their own economic 
development. Refugee protection should also be 
considered within the context of promoting respect for 
international refugee law, international human rights 
law and international humanitarian law. The principles 
of international solidarity and effective partnership 
should also be applied in order to share the burden and 
responsibilities of protecting and providing assistance 
to refugees. Conditions that encouraged the voluntary 
return of refugees to their home countries, including 
providing them with the means of making a decent 
living, should be created. 

75. Egypt had always contributed to the development 
of the principles of international refugee law by 
supporting efforts to invigorate a number of initiatives 
designed to respond to the changing international 
environment, including the Convention Plus initiative 
which complemented the 1951 Geneva Convention 
relating to the Status of Refugees and the 1967 
Protocol. 

76. Mr. Majoor (Netherlands), Chairman, resumed 
the Chair. 

77. Ms. Zhang Dan (China) said that in recent years, 
UNHCR had shifted its focus from material assistance 
to strengthening the capacities of refugees in the search 
for durable solutions. The number of refugees had 
reached 11.7 million people worldwide and was still 
growing, at a rate that overwhelmed the Office’s 
capacity to respond. New conflicts and frequent natural 
disasters brought their own tolls of refugees. In 
addition, illegal immigrants and criminal elements 



 A/C.3/63/SR.36
 

11 08-58894 
 

continued to abuse international refugee protection 
mechanisms. 

78. Her Government hoped that UNHCR would 
continue to fulfil its core mandate by stepping up 
performance and enhancing coverage ratio and the 
quality of its services. The agency should continue to 
advocate the principle of international solidarity and 
shared responsibility to facilitate durable solutions to 
the refugee question. 

79. China was party to the 1951 Geneva Convention 
relating to the Status of Refugees and its 1967 Protocol 
and had implemented its obligations thereto. It wished 
to thank UNHCR for its assistance in the aftermath of 
the recent violent earthquake and during the Beijing 
Olympics and Paralympics. China would continue its 
cooperation with UNHCR in the area of 
capacity-building, including with regard to refugee 
legislation, and would work with the agency to ensure 
refugee protection. 

80. Mr. Shukla (India) said that despite UNHCR 
efforts, the number of refugees continued to grow, as 
revealed in the statistics published in the High 
Commissioner’s report (A/63/12). Recalling the 
changing role of UNHCR since its establishment in 
1950, he stressed the agency’s expanded involvement 
with internally displaced persons, maintaining that the 
role of the High Commissioner in that domain should 
be clarified. In situations involving internal 
displacement, UNHCR should act at the explicit 
request of the State concerned and take into account 
the complementarities of mandates and the expertise of 
other organizations. 

81. He stressed that the source and destination of a 
majority of refugee movements lay in developing 
countries and that the number of refugees burdened the 
already strained economies and limited resources of 
those countries. In pursuit of the MDGs, it was vital to 
recognize those countries’ difficulties and strengthen 
efforts at the international level in the area of 
prevention, emergency relief and rehabilitation of 
refugees. The principles of international solidarity and 
burden sharing were the foundations on which the 
agency’s mission should be based.  

82. Although India was not a signatory to the 1951 
Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, which 
did not address the problem of massive refugee flows 
or factors such as mixed migration, its record in 
dealing with refugees was exemplary. India continued 

to host a large number of refugees managed within its 
own financial resources and based on the principles 
enshrined in its Constitution and other legislation, 
including the principles of protection and 
non-refoulement. It would continue to work closely 
with the international community to address the major 
challenge posed by the refugee question. 

83. His delegation welcomed the reform process 
embarked upon by UNHCR and stressed the need to 
preserve the impartiality and non-political character of 
the agency, which must continue to work in close 
cooperation with concerned States. 

84. Mr. Bródi (Hungary) said that his delegation was 
gravely concerned by the increasing number of 
refugees and commended the measures undertaken by 
UNHCR to mitigate the dire consequences of natural 
disasters and armed conflicts. He paid special tribute to 
the agency’s efforts to tackle the problem of displaced 
persons and mixed migration. 

85. At the regional level, Hungary attached special 
importance to the UNHCR 10-point Plan of Action 
relating to the European Union’s eastern and 
south-eastern borders. The Plan of Action would in the 
long run also have a positive effect on other States, 
especially countries of origin. Hungary was committed 
to the development of a common European 
immigration policy and welcomed the adoption in 
October 2008 by the Council of Europe of a European 
pact on immigration and asylum. 

86. The alarming growth in refugee flows called for a 
strengthening of UNHCR capacities. Hungary strongly 
supported ongoing reform of the agency, which was 
already bringing results. In that connection, Hungary 
fully supported the outposting programme established 
by the High Commissioner, which was aimed at 
rationalizing his Office and cutting administrative costs 
in order to better support refugees. His Government 
was committed to providing further support, including 
funding, for UNHCR activities at the global and 
regional levels. Moreover, since 2005, the UNHCR 
office in Budapest had enabled very fruitful 
cooperation between his Government and UNHCR, 
including for the elaboration of national refugee law 
and resettlement programmes. Hungary welcomed the 
choice of Budapest to host the new UNHCR Global 
Service Centre and hoped that the plans for enlarging 
the Centre by outposting new units would soon be 
implemented. Such outposting had already resulted in 



A/C.3/63/SR.36  
 

08-58894 12 
 

significant savings and had increased the funds 
available to assist the millions in need. 

87. Mr. Gram-Johannssen (Norway) welcomed the 
work of the High Commissioner, particularly with 
regard to the promotion and protection of humanitarian 
principles. The agency’s main asset was its staff, which 
had earned his admiration and respect. 

88. Although the agency continued to serve refugees 
first and foremost, Norway welcomed the fact that 
UNHCR had extended its activities to include 
displaced persons. It also encouraged the High 
Commissioner to further his cooperation with the 
Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs 
and relevant humanitarian organizations, stressing the 
need for it to refine and adapt its working methods in 
that area. 

89. Participants at the conference on guiding 
principles on internally displaced persons, held in Oslo 
in October 2008, had underlined the need to continue 
taking account of those principles in national, regional 
and international policies, and to enhance their 
implementation.  

90. The participation of UNHCR in the United 
Nations reform process at all levels, and particularly in 
the field, was vital. UNHCR should draw upon system-
wide expertise and capacity when dealing with cross-
cutting issues such as gender.  

91. Norway strongly supported the efforts of UNHCR 
in relation to Afghanistan, and was fully committed to 
strengthening the United Nations presence there, 
including in the humanitarian field, while at the same 
time hoping for a political solution. 

92. In connection with the budget and financial 
resources, he was concerned at the gap between 
budgeted needs and the actual needs of the 
beneficiaries. In that respect, he was in favour of the 
General Needs Assessment. In spite of the financial 
crisis, donor countries must continue to make 
concerted and sustained efforts to meet the needs of the 
increasing numbers of refugees and displaced people. 

93. Norway had recently presented a new 
humanitarian strategy, reaffirming its commitment to 
humanitarian partnership and the promotion of a global 
humanitarian system for all. Only a robust international 
humanitarian system could meet today’s challenges. 

94. He encouraged delegations wishing to join in 
sponsoring the resolution on UNHCR and had not yet 
done so to contact him. 

95. Ms. Mintz (Canada) welcomed the fact that the 
High Commissioner had decided to dedicate his next 
Dialogue on Protection Challenges, to be held in 
December 2008, to protracted refugee situations. That 
approach must be continued, so as to secure 
comprehensive solutions for long-standing refugee 
populations. She especially appreciated the leadership 
of UNHCR in identifying five protracted refugee 
situations that would benefit from international 
attention. She encouraged UNHCR to cooperate with 
Member States in advance of the Dialogue, to enable 
them to prepare for it. 

96. With 2009 proclaimed as the International Year of 
Reconciliation, promoting sustainable peace and 
reconciliation was of paramount importance for the 
safe and voluntary return of displaced people around 
the world.  

97. Canada continued to support the process of 
structural and management reform within UNHCR. She 
welcomed the integration of the Global Needs 
Assessment initiative into a results-based management 
framework, needs-based planning being an essential 
tool for ensuring that needs were assessed globally and 
prioritized accordingly. She would encourage UNHCR 
to develop clear benchmarks in order to be able to 
measure the success of the reform process. 

98. Canada recognized the Office’s leadership of the 
protection cluster for populations affected by conflict, 
including internally displaced persons, and supported 
its efforts to ensure that it had the capacity to discharge 
its responsibilities in that area, while continuing to 
fulfil its mandate for refugee protection. She 
commended UNHCR on its ongoing commitment to 
respond to the needs of refugees for physical and legal 
protection, while emphasizing the need to mainstream 
age, gender and diversity into its analysis of protection 
needs. She welcomed the adoption by the Executive 
Committee of conclusions on international protection, 
and looked forward to their being endorsed by the 
General Assembly. 

99. In the sixtieth anniversary year of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights, Canada welcomed the 
Office’s support for human rights. Her country was 
strongly committed to working with Member States, 
UNHCR and its partners to respond to the needs of the 
world’s displaced people. 

The meeting rose at 6 p.m. 


